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PREFACE

Indian kingdom of Golconda as 1t appeared to Dutch and

English merchants in the first quarter of the seventeenth
century. The Relations themselves are discussed in the Intro-
duction: this Preface is concerned only with what may be called
the mechanics of the volume.

The first Relation, that of Willhlam Methwold, is reprinted
from Purchas his Pilgrimage, and, in accordance with the practice
of the Society, the language and spelling of the original have
been reproduced, the only changes made being the correction of
a small number of single letters which are obvious misprints. On
the other hand, the use of italics and capital letters, which in the
original is quite haphazard, has been modernised; and the
punctuation, which is exceedingly erratic, has been modified so
far as is necessary to make the text intelligible. The reason why
it has not been entirely modernised is that this course would
have involved occasional alterations in the text, |

The translations which 1 have made of the second and third
Relations are intended to be absolutely literal, and to reproduce
not merely the sense but, so far as 1s possible, the idiom of the
original. In the case of Schorer’s Relation this has been an easy
~ task, for the style and diction are of the simplest; but the third, |
anonymous, Relation presents considerable difficulty, for the
apthor was fond of exotic phrases and long, inyolved, sentences,
while the printed text, from which the translation has been
made, is in some places undoubtedly corrupt, and in others open
to suspicion. It has been necessary therefore to indicate in the
footnotes the passages where the sense is not definitely es-
tablished. In all three Relations, square brackets denote editorial
interpolations, either brief explanations, or phrases of which the
supply seems to be necessary for intelligibility.,

In preparing the footnotes I have endeavoured to comply with
the canon now recognised by the Society, that notes should be

THIS volume contains three Relations, describing the
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confined to such particulars as are necessary to elucidate the
text. Discussion of the important data given in the Relations
regarding units of currency, weights and measures has been
relegated to the Appendix. Most of the references given in the
Introduction and notes are abbreviated: the full titles of the
works so cited will be found in the List of Authorities at the end
of the volume,

The first of the two maps shows the position of Golconda in
relation to the neighbouring Asiatic countries, and the places in
those countries which are named in the volume; the second
shows all the 1dentifiable places in the South of India to which
reference is made.

In the matter of transliteration of foreign words and names,
I have followed the use of the Imperial Gazetteer of India. The
vowels have the continental values, and the long vowels are
marked as such; but the consonants are English, and no attempt
1s made to distinguish in cases where two or more Indian or
Persian letters are represented in English by a single character.
'The only departures I have made from this system are to adopt
the conventional use of (J to denote a particular Arabic gut-
tural, which 1t 1s convenient to distinguish from K, and to
indicate the Arabic letter ‘ain by an inverted comma. T have also
followed the use of the Imperial Gazetteer in preserving the
customary spelling of names like Delhi or Tranquebar, which in
fact belong to the English language.

'The Relations cover a great variety of subjects, many of which
are outside my experience, and I have drawn freely on the
knowledge possessed by others. Assistance given on particular
topics is acknowledged in the body of the volume, but I must
take this opportunity of thanking those who have helped in
wider fields. Dr L. D. Barnett has advised me on various
questions of philology, and Sir Richard Burn on matters of
anthropology and numismatics. Mr Bijlsma, of the Rijksarchief,
has been most generous in the supply of information from the
records in his charge; and Mr E. W. O’F. Lynam has given
much time to elucidating the difficulties of idiom found in the
anonymous Relation, Professor D. G. E. Hall and Mr G. H.
Luce of the University of Rangoon have combined to supply )
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information regarding the eastern side of the Bay of Bengal, and
the former has revised my notes on that portion of Methwold’s
Relation which deals with Arakan, Pegu and Tenasserim. Much
assistance regarding the language and customs of Golconda has
been furnished by Mr E. V. S. R. Wunnam, Mr C. S. K. Pathy,
and, through Mr J. C. Molony, by Mr 8. D. Aiyer and Mr
A. V. V, Aiyer. Finally, I have to thank Sir William Foster,
President of the Society, who first suggested the volume, for
constant help and advice at every stage of its preparation.

W. H. MORELAND
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INTRODUCTION

§ 1. The KiNngpom of GOLCONDA

Golconda can now be studied in the third volume of the

Cambridge History of India, and here a very brief summary
will be sufficient. Moslem conquerors entered India by land
from the extreme north-west, and penetrated the country
gradually towards the south and east. The independent kingdom
of Delhi was established in the year 1206, and by the end of the
century the authority of Islam was predominant throughout the
north; but, except in raids for plunder, the flag had not been
carried across the great natural barrier formed by the valley of
the Narbada, which, with the Vindhya mountains on the north,
and the Satpurds on the south, separates Hindustan from the
Deccan.

Early in the fourteenth century, the armies of Alauddin
Khalji crossed this barrier, overran almost the whole peninsula,
and organised the country in provinces subject to the rule of
Delhi. This subordination did not last for long, but the effective-
ness of the conquest is shown by the fact that, when the grasp of
Delhi wgs relaxed, the Deccan, as a whole, did not revert to
Hindu rulers, but an independent Moslem State, known as the
Bahmani kingdom, emerged in the country between the Tapti
and Kistna rivers, while to the north of it another Moslem
kingdom, Khandesh, extended as far as the Narbada.

The Bahmant kingdom persisted during the fifteenth century,
and then disintegrated. The dynasty retained a small area in the
centre, but the four provincial Governors, among whom its
authority was distributed, became independent Kings, so that
five States in all resulted, Bidar in the centre, Berar in the north,
Ahmadnagar on the north-west, Bijapur on the south-west, and
Golconda, the subject of this volume, on the east. For the
greater part of the sixteenth century, the history of this region is

SO much as 1s known of the rise of the Moslem kingdom of
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one of kaleidoscopic alliances, and almost continual war. To the
north of the five Deccan kingdoms lay Gujarat, Khandesh, and
Milwa, to the south the large Hindu kingdom of Vijayanagar,
and it is scarcely going too far to say that these nine powers
might be formed into almost any groups according to the
exigencies of the moment. The causes of each outbreak of
hostilities, as they are indicated in the chronicles, were multi-
farious, and sometimes trivial, but underlying them was what
may fairly be called an idea of the balance of power, so that there
was a tendency to combine against any king who was becoming
too strong, and to desert an ally who had obtained a dangerous
success.

A conspicuous example of the operation of this idea was the
Moslem confederacy which attacked Vijayanagar, and at the
battle of Talikota, fought in December, 1564, and January, 1505,
broke the power of that kingdom, The capital was destroyed, the
king withdrew to the south-east, and during the period covered
by this volume the dynasty was seated at Vellore, about 8o miles
west of Madras. The elimination of this danger from the south
left the Moslem kingdoms free to fight among themselves for
the remainder of the century, but in the meantime a new, and
greater, danger appeared in the north. Akbar, ‘the Great Mogul’,
had succeeded in the year 1556 to 2 kingdom comprising only a
small portion of north-west India, and his fifty years’ reign was
marked by progressive conquest and organisation of the country
to the south and east. We are not at present concernedgwith the
Mogul expansion eastwards, for, though Orissa was brought
within the empire, the threat to Golconda did not come from
this side. Something must, however, be said of the advance to
the south,

In the India of this period there is no need to seek for a con-
queror’s motives. Conquest was a king’s right, it might almost
be said, a king’s duty, and he was ordinarily judged by his
success. There was, however, a specific motive for the directions
in which a conqueror moved from the north, in the need for an
adequate and regular supply of the precious metals. The demand
was large and persistent, for coinage, for hoarding, and for
display ; the local supply was negligible; and the only means of
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providing what was in effect a necessity of sovereignty was
control of the seaboard. To a ruler in Agra or Delhi the primary
objective was Gujarat, the seaports of which traditionally ex-
ported goods, and imported gold and silver in exchange. The
military route to Gujarat lay through the productive kingdom
of Malwa, rather than the barren lands of Rajputana; and
accordingly we find Malwa conquered, and organised as a
Mogul province, within ten years of Akbar’s accession. The
turn of Gujarit came next, and then the southward expansion
paused for a time. In 1596, however, Berir, the most northerly
of the Deccan kingdoms, fell, five years later Khandesh was
subdued, and the Moguls, now firmly established across the
line of the Narbada, were face to face with Ahmadnagar. A
portion of this kingdom was actually conquered, and it was even
officially described as a Mogul province; but then, on the death
of Akbar in 1605, a marked change occurred, and the Deccan
enjoyed a respite for nearly thirty years.
T'wo causes operated to produce this result. In Ahmadnagar,
a great Minister emerged in the person of Malik Ambar, whose
organising genius enabled the smaller kingdom to maintain a
successful front against the enemy until his death about the year.
1626. In the Mogul Empire, Akbar’s son and successor,
Jahangir, displayed none of his father’s energy, and, after a short
period, tired of the drudgery of admmistration, so that, while
the war went on spasmodically, no decisive success was obtained.
JAn order to understand this fact, it is necessary to bear in mind
that to ordinary Mogul officers war was an occupation at once
pleasant and profitable. In peace time, an officer had to main-
tain his troops from the income assigned to him by the Emperor:
in war, he could hope to draw their pay from the treasury, to
get large grants for re-equipment, and-—with luck—to enrich
himself by booty. The tendency was thus to prolong operations
rather than seek for a decisive success; and it required energy
and determination at the centre of power to secure the effective
conquest of a distant enemy. The necessary energy was supplied
when, in the year 1627, Shahjahan succeeded Jahangir, Almost
as soon as he was firmly seated on the throne, the new Emperor

took up the war in earnest, Ahmadnagar was conquered, and
&
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the bulk of it annexed, and within ten years Golconda became
tributary to the Mogul Empire.

'The Relations contained in this volume deal with the years
between 1608 and 1622, that is to say, the period during which
the Mogul pressure was relaxed. Ahmadnagar bore the main
burden of the resistance, but it was supported by contingents
from Golconda and Bijapur, so that, apart from the northern
frontier, the Deccan enjoyed comparative peace, and boundaries
were more or less stable. The situation of the kingdom of Gol-
conda at this time may be described as follows. On the south, it
was separated by the Penner river from the territories of the
Vijayanagar dynasty, with its capital at Vellore. The King of
Vellore, Venkata I, was an old man, and on his death 1n 1614
the succession was disputed, and a series of civil wars began,
which were still in progress when the last of these Relations was
written. On the north, Golconda was bounded by the Mogul
provinces of Berar and Orissa, but these were not very effectively
administered, the bulk of the adjoining territory being left in the
hands of Hindu Chiefs, and, while the frontier was necessarily
watched by troops, there is no record of serious fighting in this
direction. On the west; the small kingdom of Bidar had by this
ttme been absorbed by its neighbours, and Golconda was
bounded by the territories of its allies, Bijapur and Ahmadnagar.

The founder of the Golconda dynasty was Sultan Quli, a
native of Hamadan in Persia, who came to India as an ad-
venturer, was admitted to the bodyguard of the Bahmani King,
earned promotion, and eventually rose to be Governor of the
eastern province then known as Telingana, with the title of
Qutb-ul-mulk. Here the circumstances of the time compelled
him to assert his independence in the year 1512, though he did
not actually describe himself as king, a title which was assumed
by his successors. The fourth effective ruler of the dynasty was
Ibrahim, who died in 1580, and his son, Muhammad Qulj,
reigned until 1612, when he was succeeded by his nephew
Muhammad. The Relations printed in this volume thus refer to
the close of Muhammad Quli’s reign and the opening years of
Muhammad.

The tone of the Court was predominantly Persian, and men

-
L]
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of that nation ordinarily controlled the administration, the Chief
Minister bearing the title or designation of Mir Jumla. The
methods of the Persian Ministers are sufficiently described in
the Relations. The position of Governor in each district was
farmed year by year to the highest bidder, who was allowed to
do very much as he pleased, provided he fulfilled his contract,
but was treated with extreme severity if he defaulted, and was
under the necessity of concealing his profits, when he made any,
from the eyes of jealous competitors and avaricious Ministers at
Court. In essence, the administration was a scramble for Imme-
diate gain, without thought for the future, and this condition
furnishes an adequate explanation of most of the difficulties
expertenced by Dutch and English merchants in establishing
their trade in the seaports. |

The attitude of the local mercantile community to this
Persian domination is reflected in Floris’ Journal, as printed in
Purchas his Pilgrimes (1, iii, 320). Floris, after recording the
death of King Muhammad OQuli in January 1611/12, and the
succession of Muhammad, whom he described as"'a yongman of
great hope”, remarked : ““his uncle had put all in the hands of
the Persians, but this sheweth himself contrarie, and an enemie
to Mir Sumela [Jumla] the fountaine of tyrannie . The change, .
if there was a change, was, however, one of persons rather than
methods, for Methwold’s later description of the administration
is substantially identical with that which is given in the earljer
Dutch Relations, ,

The kingdom consisted of two main regions. Along the coast
18 a narrow strip of fertile lowland, including the deltas of the
Kistna and Godavari rivers. Inland the country rises to the
various ranges known by the general name of the Eastern (hats,
and beyond them, ““above the ghats” to use the Indjan phrase,
come high plateaux, broken by the river valleys. In reading the
Relations, it is important to bear in mind that the detailed

the Dutch writers had been to Hyderabad, the recently founded
capital of the kingdom, but as a rule the experience of foreign
merchants was limited to the low country or the fringe of the
plateaux, where they purchased the goods required for export.
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The inhabitants of the kingdom were almost entirely Hindu,
speaking the Telugu language. I can find no record of conver-
sion to Islam having taken place on a large scale in this region,
and the bulk of the resident Moslems must be regarded as of
foreign origin, whether merchants who had settled at the sea-
ports, or soldiers and adventurers who had followed the flag
from the north.

The country was, as 1t still is, predominantly agricultural. In
the lowlands, the staple crops were rice, millets, and pulses,
while, on a smaller scale, the dye-crops, indigo and chay-root, -
were produced for use in connection with the weaving industry,
and tobacco, then a recent introduction, was grown largely for
export. The silence of the Relations suggests that cotton was
not grown extensively in the lowlands, and we may assume that
the material required by the weaving industry was brought from
the interior. The chief mineral products were iron and steel of
high quality, manufactured some distance inland, and exported
from Masulipatam; but by the time the last Relation was
written, diamond-mining on an important scale had developed
at Kollar. |

Among industries, cotton-weaving stood by itselt; and a
short description of its organisation will perhaps facilitate the
comprehension of the allusions to the topic contained 1n the
Relations. Weaving was practised all over the country, primarily,
it may be assumed, for local consumption, but goods for export
were produced in large quantities, The weavers were inde-
pendent, in one sense of the word, for they were not brought
together in workshops under skilled direction, but worked each
in his own house. They were, however, ordinarily poor, and not
in a position to work for a free market, but depended on ad-
vances of capital from the buyers, who could thus dictate the
nature, quality, and quantity of the goods produced. These were
of very numerous sorts, described in a nomenclature which 1s
not easy to master, the names coming from perhaps a dozen
different languages, and having frequently become mere trade-
descriptions, with no reference to their original meaning.

The main classification was into plain and patterned goods,
while plain goods may conveniently be subdivided into mushn
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and calico. The latter, a stout cloth, was produced n various .
qualities, depending on the fineness of the yarn, and the number
of threads to the inch; it could be mark2ted either brown,
bleached, or dyed in the piece; and, apart from its local use, it
was in demand in most of the markets to which the kingdom had
access by sea. Muslin, a thinner cloth, could also be had brown,
bleached, or dyed; it was made principally inland, and the
most important lines for export bore the name of the town of
-Warangal, situated about 160 miles north-north-west of Masult-
- patam. Like calico, muslin was distributed by sea in all direc-
~ tions, but the Persian demand for turbans and girdles was of
“exceptional importance.

The patterned goods, of the general type now described as
‘prints’, were made of either calico or muslin, with coloured
patterns produced by the indigenous processes. This work was
done mainly on the coast, where the industry was closely
adapted to the needs of the foreign markets, situated principally
in Java and further to the East. Each of these markets had its
own peculiar tastes, and would take nothing that differed in
texture, size, or pattern from its traditional standards, so that it
was almost essential for merchants interested in those markets to
- be in close touch with the centres of supply, where alone they
could be certain of getting exactly what they wanted in the
requisite quantity.

Both plain and patterned goods were produced in the Hindu
territory as well as in Golconda, but at this period there was a
certain amount of localisation for the export trade. The Gol-
conda coast was the best place to buy plain goods, while 1its
~ superior dye-stuffs, indigo for blue and chay-root for red,
together with various vegetable-yellows, provided a wide range
of colour. For patterned goods, on the other hand, the Iiindu
coast was best, and production centred in the town of Pulicat,
25 miles north of the present city of Madras.

The main exports of Golconda were thus cotton goods, and
iron and steel. Indigo was transported across the peninsula and
shipped to Persia from the West Coast; cotton yarn was sent to
Burma; and various items of minor importance contributed to

* what was, for the time, a large export trade. The volume of
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imports was substantially smaller, Spices, dye-woods, metals
other than iron, camphor, porcelain, silk, and other goods,
mainly luxuries, were brought for sale on the coast, and the
balance was adjusted 1n gold and silver. In addition, there was
a large coasting-trade, northward to Bengal and southward to
Vijayanagar and Ceylon.

§ 2. The EurROPEANS on the COROMANDEL COAST

Up to the end of the fifteenth century, Europeans took no part
in the commerce of the Asiatic seas, the conditions of which
were entirely changed by the establishment of the Portuguese
maritime cmpire. In the next century we find the Portuguese
in sovereign possession of a few small areas of territory, and
thence dominating the seas by their superior fleets, monopo-
lising some trade-routes, and the trade in some particular
articles, and reqmrmg all nnn—Pﬂrtuguese vessels to pay heavily
for the privilege of taking part in the commerce which was not
monopolised. No fortress, arsenal, or ship-yard was required
tor this purpose on the Ilast Coast of India: with Malacca on
the east, and Goa, Cochin, and Colombo watching the western
outlet, the Bay of Bengal was dominated effectively. Accordingly,
there was no Portuguese territory in this region, but various
trading settlements grew up, the inhabitants of which, relying
on the prestige of their nation, assumed a position of indepen-
dence, and were not in fact governed by the native rulers. At
the opening of our pertod two important settlements, Negapatam
and S. Thomeé, existed tn Hindu territory to the south of
Golconda, and there were others further north in Bengal; but
there i1s no trace of any attempt to assert independence on the
part of any Portuguese who may have settled on the Golconda
coast, nor i1s there cvidence that any considerable numbers
resided there. The Portuguese however took a full share in the
maritime trade of the kingdom with Pegu, Malacca, and beyond,
while they were not less active in the coasting-trade, which
carried large quantities of provisions from Bengal and the East
Coast to the south and west, particularly to Malabar, a narrow
strip of countrv. cut off from the interior by mountains. and
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ordinarily dependent for part of its food on what could be
brought by sea. It is important to bear in mind that all commerce
with the Spice Islands was reserved, that is to say, monopolised,
by the Portuguese; the demand of these markets was mainly
for patterned goods produced in Pulicat and the vicinity, and
hence this branch of the cotton industry was, during most of
the sixteenth century, dominated by the settlements of S, Thomé
and Negapatam.

'The commercial interests of the Portuguese centred in the
export of spices to Europe. Pepper, the principal item, was
obtained in India, and shipped at Cochin; cinnamon was
brought in coasting-craft from Ceylon; cloves, nutmegs, and
mace came from the Spice Islands lying east of Borneo; and
these goods, taken together, formed the most valuable portion
of the cargoes carried to Europe by the annual trading fleets, At
Lisbon, the spices were bought mainly by Dutch merchants,
who distributed them by water along the coast of Western
Europe. In the third quarter of the sixteenth century, these
commercial arrangements appeared to be stabilised, the Portu-
guese enjoying a monopoly of the sea-borne trade between Asia
and Europe, the Dutch acting as the principal distributors from
Lisbon; but the situation was changed abruptly at the end of
the year 1580, when the crown of Portugal passed to the King of
Spain, then at war with his revolted provinces of Holland. The
Dutch distributing trade was threatened and hindered, though
not absolutely stopped ; and, when the sea-power of Spain had
been crippled by the loss of the Armada in 1588, Dutch
merchants, and also English merchants, decided to enter the
spice trade for themsclves.

Early successful voyages gave the various Dutch seaports a
footing in the East, not in India itself, but in Java and Sumatra,
and in 1602 the competing groups of merchants were com-
bined in the Dutch East India Company, a wealthy and powerful
orgamsation, assured of national support, and prepared, when
necessary, to fight the Portuguese forces, which at the outset the
Dutch had been content to avoid. As soon, however, as the
spice trade had been entered, the need for commercial con-
nections with India was experienced, owing to the fact that

MR b
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Indian cotton goods were practically the only things which
could be sold, or in some cases bartered, to the producers of the
spices required. The Dutch sent buyers to the Gujarat markets
as early as 1601, but the vicissitudes of their enterprise on the
West Coast lie outside the scope of this volume. Their connec-
tion with Golconda began in 1605, when the pinnace Delft
anchored at Masulipatam, the principal seaport of the kingdom,
and left a small party of buyers, or ‘factors’, to use the time-
honoured phrase, with Pieter Ysaacx Eyloff as the Chief.

A year later the Delft returned, and negotiations for the
establishment of regular agencies, or ‘factories’, were opened
with the local authorities. No difficulty was experienced at the
smaller seaport of Nizampatam, where a factory was forthwith
organised, but at Masulipatam the demands of the Governor
were exorbitant, and van Soldt, the head of the mission, went to
Golconda, where he obtained terms which appeared at the
time to be satisfactory. The Masulipatam factory was then
opened, and placed in charge of Pieter Ysaacx.

A brief experience of Golconda sufficed to convince the
Dutch that they required a footing in the Hindu territory
further south, in order to obtain the patterned goods demanded
so largely in the spice-markets. At the end of 1608, a mission
visited Gingee, the headquarters of the Nayak, or local Gover-
nor under the King of Vellore, and obtained permission to
open a factory at Tegnapatam, now known as Fort St David;
while two years later negotiations conducted at Vellore itself
resulted in the grant of exclusive privileges of trade for a factory
at Pulicat, from which the King undertook to remove the
Portuguese residents. Pulicat was shortly afterwards made the
headquarters of the Dutch Company on the Coast, a position
which it was to retain until after the middle of the century.

The early history of the Pulicat factory was not, however, free
from vicissitudes. At the outset it was merely a place of busness,
unfortified and undefended. In 1612, the Portuguese of S.
Thomé raided the factory, burnt the town, and carried oft the
surviving factors as prisoners, At this juncture Dutch interests
on the Coast were in the charge of Wemmer van Berchem, a
young and vigorous man, who had just arrived in India, and was
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at the moment in Golconda, negotiating an agreement for
compounding for the customs duties at Masulipatam. These
negotiations were brought to a successtul end 1in September,
and early in November Wemmer was at Vellore, claiming from
the King the protection which had been promised for the
factory at Pulicat. Within a month he had obtained a definite
‘contract’, as it was called, under which one of the Queens, who
held the Pulicat country for what may be described as her privy
purse, was to build a fort, which was to be occupied jointly by
the Dutch and a Hindu garrison, while the Portuguese and all
other Europeans were to be excluded from the town. There was,
however, delay in building the fort, the Portuguese more than
once threatened further attacks, and Wemmer decided to com-
plete the building at the Company’s charge. The wisdom of this
decision became apparent in 1614, when the King of Vellore
died, and civil war broke out. The Hindu garrison was soon
withdrawn, and when Wemmer left the Coast a year later, he
handed over to his successor in Fort Geldria, as he had named
his work, a safe refuge where business could be carried on
without dangerous interruption from the contending armies in
the country. |

Meanwhile the English Company, which had been established
in 1600, had put in an appearance on the Coast. A voyage had
been decided on to test the trade of the Bay of Bengal, and in
August, 1611, the Globe anchored at Pulicat, only to be warned
off by the Dutch on the strength of their exclusive privileges
under the original grant for their factory. The vessel went on to
Nizampatam and Masulipatam, where trade was opened and
factors left; thence the voyage was continued further east, and
the Globe returned to Masulipatam at the end of 1613, and was
taken for repairs to Narasapur, a ship-building centre at the
mouth of the Godavari river. While this work was in progress,
negotiations were opened with Vellore in order to obtain a
footing in the southern trade, but these were brought to an end
by the news of the King’s death in October, 1614. During this
period English interests in this region were in charge of two
Dutchmen, Peter Floris and Lucas Antheunis, who had been
engaged because of the experience they had already gained 1n the

b-2
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service of the Dutch Company. The former left for England at
the end of the year, and died shortly after his arrival, while
Antheunis remained in the East, and in 161617 was in charge of
the factory at Masulipatam. He was succeeded for a short time
by Adam Denton, who in 1618 was relieved by William Meth-
wold, the writer of the first Relation contained in this volume.

We have thus three European nations established on the
Coromandel Coast. The Portuguese in the south were, however,
ceasing to count : the Dutch were fortified in the south, and had
factories in the north; while the English also had factories in the
north, but had not yet gained a footing in the south. A few
words must be added regarding the relations between the three
nations. The long-drawn war between Spain and IHolland was
suspended in 1609 by a truce arranged for twelve years, which
provided, among other things, that the Dutch and Portuguese
should not interfere with each other’s trade in the East. Ofhcial
intimation of this truce was brought to Asia by Wemmer van
Berchem, who reached Bantam, then the headquarters of the
Dutch Company, in October, 1610, Its effectiveness in practice
can be seen from the Portuguese attack on Pulicat nearly two
years later; and, to Dutchmen on the Coast, the Portuguese
were still ‘the enemy’, though their power to attack in this
region was passing away. England and Spain were officially at
peace, but in 1614, and later, English ships on the West Coast
were attacked by Portuguese fleets; and cordial relations were
not established until 1635, when, as is related below, Methwold
negotiated an agreement with the Viceroy at Goa. Holland and
England also were at peace, but in 1617 the commercial rivalry
between the Companies developed into war in the Asiatic seas,
from Java eastwards. This war was terminated in 1619 by an
agreement made in Europe, under which the Compantes were
to share the trade, and combine their forces for its defence.
Under this agreement, the English were admitted to trade in
Pulicat in 1621, and thus obtained a footing on the southern
part of the Coast; but the arrangement proved unsatisfactory,
and, after a few years’ experience, the English factory was
moved a short distance north to Armagon, whence later on it
was transferred to Madras.
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In order to complete this summary account of the Europeans
on the Coast, it should be added that in 1620 the officers of the
Danish East India Company obtained a settlement at 'Tranque-
bar, about 25 miles north of Negapatam, but their activities do
not come into the picture presented by the Relations. The
establishment of the French on the Coast was, of course, much
later, and its story belongs to the second half of the century.

The Relations printed in this volume show what the foreign
merchants thought of Golconda. It would be most interesting
to know what Golconda thought of the foreigners, but on this
peint I have failed to discover any evidence. The chronicle of
Firishta, which is the principal source for the history of the
kingdom, and the anonymous chronicle which Briggs included
in his version of that writer, are silent on the topic, and I know
of no other contemporary records. The Relations suggest that
the foreigners were on friendly terms with the people, and got
on reasonably well with the Governors, apart from the friction
caused by periodical attempts at extortion, but the views of
Golconda as a whole are matter for conjecture.

§ 3. The RELATIONS and their WRITERS

Enough has now been said of the environment in which the
Relations were written, and I turn to the Relations themselves.
The first in the volume, which is the latest in date, was written
by William Methwold at the request of the Reverend Samuel
Purchas for inclusion in his Pilgrimes; but, reaching him too
late for the main work, published in 1625, was printed at the
end of the supplementary volume issued a year later, which
contained the fourth enlarged edition of his Prlgrimage, or
general survey of the world. The delay has proved unfortunate
for posterity, because, while the Pilgrimes has been reprinted and
is now accessible in many libraries, the Pilgrimage is rare, and
it is very unlikely that anyone will undertake a new edition. This
Relation 1s based on the experience gained by Methwold at
Masulipatam in the years from 1618 to 1622.

The second Relation was written eitherin16150r early in 1616
by Antony Schorer, who was employed at the Dutch factory in
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Masulipatam from 1608 or 1609 to 1614. It was written for the
Directors of the Company in Holland, and was filed in their
records under the year 1616; so far as I know, it has never been
published. |

The third Relation first appeared in a Dutch collection of
voyages published in 1644-6. The author’s name 1S not given,
but, anticipating the conclusions to be reached further on, I
may say that it was almost certainly written in the latter part of
1614, and probably by Pieter Gielisz. van Ravesteyn, who
served in the Dutch factory at Nizampatam from 1608 to 1614,
and who was subsequently in charge of the factory at Surat.
This Relation also was apparently written, not for publication,
but for the use of the writer’s superiors in the Company’s
service.

The issue in one volume of three Relations, written about the
same period from substantially the same standpoint, has the
obvious drawback that it involves a certain amount of repetition.
It will be found, however, that the three, when taken together,
furnish a much more complete picture of the life of the time
than can be drawn from any one of them taken by itself. I have
placed Methwold’s Relation first, because it was composed for
a general audience by a man possessed of considerable literary
skill, and it gives the main lines of the picture, in which the
details described so baldly in the Dutch Relations find a natural
place, while furnishing abundant confirmation of its sub-
stantial accuracy.

The collocation of the three Relations has another advantage.
A small but voluble band of enthusiasts have of late adopted an
attitude of uncritical hostility towards any evidence tending to
show that the India of this period was not an earthly paradise.
When such evidence comes to their notice, their practice 1s to
discredit it summarily as mere gossip, or sensationalism, or the
product of ignorance and inaccuracy. Now if Methwold’s
Relation stood alone, it would be open to attacks of this kind.
It contains, as I have indicated in the footnotes, a few errors of
detail: therefore, these critics might argue, it is ignorant and
inaccurate. It was composed for a general audience: conse-
quently, sensationalism can safely be postulated. It deals with
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some matters outside the writer’s experience: therefore it is
merely the gossip of the bazaar; and in this way the Relation as
a whole would be discredited to the satisfaction of the critics.
Here, however, the Dutch Relations come in. There 1s no room
for any suggestion of sensationalism in accounts which were not
written for publication ; the inaccuracies are extraordinarily few;
and as a rule the writers confine themselves strictly to what they
had actually seen and heard. With these Relations before him,
the unprejudiced reader has no difficulty in recognising the
essential trustworthiness of Methwold’s general sketch.

The point may be illustrated by the references to the self-
immolation of Hindu widows. Methwold gives three instances
of this practice as occurring within his own experience. In only
one of these does he assert that he witnessed the actual death;
in a second, he arrived too late; in the third, the act was pre-
vented by the authorities. In these circumstances it would not
be difficult for the critics of whom I have spoken to write off to
~ their own satisfaction the whole paragraph as sensational gossip,
retailed for a general audience; but no one can read the account
- furnished, in such terrible detail, in the anonymous Relation
without being convinced that the writer had actually witnessed
the spectacle he describes; and, with this evidence on the
record, any attempt to discredit Methwold must be simply
futile.

§ 4. WirLLiaM METHWOLD

From these general observations I proceed to a somewhat fuller
account of the Relations and their authors. William Methwold
was a man of sufficient mark to find a place in the Dictionary of
National Biography under the shadow of his uncle, 5ir William
Methold,* who became Lord Chief Justice of Ireland; but the
writer of the notice apparently did not refer to the records in the
India Office, and the following sketch is based partly on them,
and partly on family documents the contents of which have been
communicated to me by Sir William Foster.

! The spelling of the family name varies, but William Methwold himself
used the v which has since been discarded, and I preserve his use,
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In the sixteenth century the family was settled in Norfolk,
where William Methwold (the first) had a family comprising
among others William (the second), the Lord Chief Justice of
Ireland, and Thomas, whose son William (the third) is the
subject of this sketch. He was baptised in September, 13590,
which may be taken as the year of his birth, and sixteen years
later, in 1606, he was apprenticed to a London merchant named
Randall Manninge, with whom he remained for nine years, five
of which were spent at Middelburg in Holland. In 1615 he was
engaged as a factor by the East India Company, ““being perfect
in accounts, and hath the Dutch and French languages”, as the
record of his appointment states; and he sailed as a *chief
merchant” in the fleet which left England early in the following
year, and reached Surat in September. The voyage was marked
by an encounter with a Portuguese carrack near the Comoro
Islands, a full account of which was given by the Reverend
Edward Terry,achaplain on the fleet. The carrack was eventually
disabled and driven ashore, where she was burned by her crew;
the most serious loss on the English side was the death of the
commander of the fleet, Benjamin Joseph, who was succeeded
by Henry Pepwell.

In October, 1616, it was proposed to send Methwold from
Surat to Persia, but it was decided that he must remain with the
fleet, though he visited various markets in Gujarit. A curious
memento of this period was preserved® by the German traveller
Mandelslo, who was Methwold’s guest at Surat more than
twenty years later, in 1638. During a visit to a pleasure-garden
in Cambay, he found a couplet inscribed with the date 1616, and
the signature of William Mettiwold (as the name is printed), to
the effect that

The English and Dutch were here,
And drank toddy for want of Beer.

In February, 1617, Methwold was chosen as chief merchant

I Mandelslo’s Morgenldndische Reyse, p. 7g. The text is:

De Englisch und Diitsch was hier,
Drancken tioddich vor wanting Bier.

Apparently the original was either English or Anglo-Dutch macaronic, which
was Germanised by the transcriber.,
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of the Unicorn for a voyage to the pepper-ports on the west
coast of Sumatra, and on to Bantam. On this voyage he visited
Calicut and other places on the Malabar coast, obtained a cargo
of pepper at Tiku in Sumatra, and reached Bantam in October.
At Bantam he was chosen by the Council to be *“Principall of
the Coast of Choromandell”, and he reached Masulipatam, his
headquarters, in May, 1618,

Here he remained until October, 1622, transacting the Com-
pany’s business with credit and success, limited by the in-
adequacy of the funds placed at his disposal. His term of office
was uneventful. His letters disclose occasional difficulties with
the local officials, but no unusual friction. Apparently he spent
most of his time at his headquarters, and the only lengthy
expedition of which there is a record is his visit to the diamond-
field at Kollir, which is described in his Relation. He was on
friendly terms with the Dutch, whom he liked as a nation, and,
so far as can be judged, he was popular with the Indian
mercantile community.

His service on the East Coast was, however, over-shadowed
by accusations of private trade, a subject which calls for a few
words of explanation. The Company’s servants were formaily
prohibited from engaging in trade on their own account, but the
practice was almost universal, and there is no doubt that the
opportunity of indulging in it was one of the principal attrac-
tions which the service offered to merchants of ability. At this
period no serious efforts were made to stamp out the practice,
and as a rule it was tolerated by the authorities, so long as the
amount of trade was moderate, and the methods followed were
not such as to injure the interests of the Company. Methwold
was, first and foremost, a merchant, eager to buy and sell at a
profit, and he seems to have lost no time in entering on business
for himself. While at Tiku in Sumatra, he had been in relations
with a factor named Henry Patteson, whose executor he became;
and in Qctober, 1618, the Committees, or Directors, as we
should now say, of the Company, on an examination of Patteson’s
affairs, decided that he had been guilty of dishonesty, and that
he had been abetted by Methwold, who was ordered to be sent
home for examination. The news of this order had reached
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Methwold in 1620, and he refers to it in his letters, protesting
against his recall, while admitting that he had traded on his
own account. In May of the following year he wrote that “1I
expect my Nunc Demittis, and hope to come 1n the first ship
according to your absolute command of Send him home”, but
it was only in October, 1622, that he was actually relieved. 1
have not traced in the records any formal statement of the
reasons which induced the Council in Java, to which Masuli-
patam was subordinate, to delay compliance with the Company’s
order for so long; but their final pronouncement, which is
quoted below, shows that they were well satisfied with Meth-
wold’s work, and probably they were not in any hurry to be
deprived of his services.

Methwold reached Batavia, then the seat of the Java Council,
at the end of the year, and shortly afterwards the Council
reported on his conduct. T'wo items only 1n his accounts were
found open to question; one was an error in book-keeping, the
other related to a sum of money which Methwold had left in the
hands of an Indian merchant for investment in diamonds, but
which was stolen, and never recovered. An allegation that this
was really a private venture, fraudulently charged to the
Company, was considered to be malicious, but was referred
home for decision; “all other particulars in his accompts wee
find perfect, and find himself to be a man of such sufficiencie
for imploiement in your affaires that wee hartily wish your
displeasure were not the cause of his not returne ; whose absence
from the charge that hee was imploied in will cause your
prejudice in thatt affaire, besides other inconveniences which
may happen for want of such an understanding and experienced
marchant,”” Such was the final verdict of the Council, who
allowed Methwold to sail for home at his own urgent request.

Methwold reached England in August, 1623, and his affairs
became the subject of the usual investigation by a sub-com-
mittee of the Directors. T'hat he had engaged in private trade he
freely admitted, as he had already done in his letters from
Masulipatam; and eventually the only decision taken to his
prejudice was to hold him responsible for the money lost in the
diamond investment mentioned above. His affairs were settled
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by April, 1624, when his bond of service was delivered to him,
and he ceased for the time being to have any official connection
with the Company.

For the next five years he was apparently in business for
himself, but 1 have found no record of his activities. In April,
1624, he married Mary, daughter of William Wright* of Seven-
oaks, by whom he had six children. In 1628 he was admitted to
the freedom of the Company by service, and in the following
year he offered to represent the Company in Persia. In the
discussion of this offer, ““he protested covetousnes doth not
invite him to seeke for this imployment; but the respect and
love which he beares to the Company to doe them his best
service, and therefore he hoped he should deserve 350 & per
annum”’, His offer was eventually rejected on the ground that
the number of factors already in the East was in excess of
requirements ; and a list of these shows that at that ttme 200
was the highest salary enjoyed, so that his request indicates a
consciousness of exceptional ability. In 1630 he became deputy
Sword-bearer to the Lord Mayor of London, with the hope of
succeeding to that honourable post. In this he was disappointed,
but he continued to serve as deputy until 1633, when his resig-
nation was accepted, with much praise and many expressions of
good will.

The reason for his resignation was that he had been chosen
by the East India Company to be President of Surat on the high
annual salary of f500, out of which f100 was to be paid in
India and the balance to be invested on his behalf in the
Company’s capital : at the same time he invested £1000 1n cash.
He reached Surat in November, 1633, and returned to Englard
at the end of 1639.

During this period he found full scope for the exercise of his
abilities. In the years before 1630, the Company had bult up
a large and profitable trade in Surat, based on the export of
indigo and cotton goods to Europe. This trade came to a sudden
and disastrous end with the terrible famine which desolated
Gujarat in 1630-1; and it fell to Methwold to restore the

I The Dict. of National Biography gives the name as Blake, but family
records leave no room for doubt on the point.
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Company’s position on this side of India. The details of the
reorganisation effected by him lie outside the scope of this
sketch, and the nature of his activities will be illustrated
sufficiently by a few extracts from the letters which he wrote
to England, prefaced by Sir William Foster’s summary of the
qualities which he displayed during this period of exceptional
Stress.

“Alike in character and ability, [writes Sir William] Methwold
stood head and shoulders above both his immediate predecessors and
his colleagues. His period of office proved to be an exceptionally
arduous one—he himself wrote later: ‘I know no trouble or misery
(except sicknesse) which I have not mett withall in this my short
employment in India’—yet no danger daunted him; no emergency
found him wanting; his cool judgment at once pointed out the course
to be pursued, while his energy and fixity of purpose wrested success
from even the most adverse conditions. In dealing with the Indian
officials and merchants he was courteous and conciliatory, without
for a moment forgetting his responsibilities as the representative of a
foreign nation. The Dutch, who were pleased to find that he had
spent some time in the Netherlands and spoke their language well,
praised his affability and discretion, and wished that other Presidents
had been like him. To his subordinates he strove to be just and con-
siderate, at the same time insisting upon their fulfilling punctually
their obligations to the Company, particularly in the matter of private
trade, in which respect he himself set them a good example; yet, when
occasion required, he was fearless in his censures, as even members of
Council like Fremlen and Bornford found to their cost. Nor was he
less outspoken in letters to his employers, who however had the good
sense to respect his openness and to give him their steady and whole-
hearted support.”

After a year’s experience of his new charge, Methwold with
his Council wrote to the Company as follows (29th December,

1634):

We want anthmetique to computate the losses which you have
sustayned and doe still continue to beare, by the miserable stand in
trade befalne this almost desolated kingdome of Guzurat. Where to
better it, or how to mend ourselves, we cannot possibly foresee. Your
shipps are here in India without hopes of ladeing from hence; yet
here they spend your meanes, and must do so, whilest only necessaries
are demanded.
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Further on, the reasons for the scarcity of cotton goods are
presented as follows:

First, the scarcity and consequently the deareness of cotton wooll,
which we conceive doth chiefly arise from the great price which all
sorts of graine hath yielded for some fore past yeares, which hath
undoubtedly disposed of the country people to those courses which
hath bene most profitable for them, and so discontinued the planting
of cotton, which could not have bene vented in proporcion of former
tymes, because the artificers and mechaniques of all sorts were so
miserably dead or fledd from all parts of the kingdome of Guzeratt;
which 1s the second cause that hath occasioned this great stand in the
callico trade, and cannot be restored to its pristine estate as that we
may hope to see it in its former lustre for many years to come (we
conceive for five years at least), Yet the plenty of this present yeare
diffused generally through 2ll the vast parts of this kingdome,
occasioned by the seasonable raines which have falne universally. . .
doth summon downe againe those fugitives which famine forced from
their owne habitations; and we are eye-witnesses of a much greater
concourse of people frequenting the cities. The villages fill but slowly,
yet it betters with them also; and if the excessive tirranny and
covetuousness of the governors of all sorts would give the poor people
leave but to lift up their heads in one yeares vacancye from oppres-
sion, they would be enabled to keepe cattle about them, and so to
advance the plenty which the earth produceth that all things would
be much more abundant, and there would be no want but of tyme to
make the children capable to exercise the functions of their fathers,
whereunto the custom of this country doth necessarily oblige
them.

A vyear later, on 2nd January, 1636, Methwold was able to
report that the improvement was making headway., Prices of
goods for export were falling ““by small yet sensible degrees, ..
through the cheapness of graine and the accesse of more
inhabitants into this almost depopulated country;” and, on the
receipt of advices from the Company, ‘“wee roused ourselves
and shaking off the dull rustinesse which was allmost growne
upon us into a disease, wee resolved afresh to take up [ie.
borrow] so much money as would put us into action for some
small ttme”. The letter goes on to tell of various activities
directed to increase the supply of goods by widening the area
of purchase; and two months later we find Methwold already
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beginning to think of his return, and urging the Company to
provide a successor.

A second vow made to a grieved wife procured him consent to
contract for a time of absence, with condition, sollemnly protested
before witnesse, not to exceede that time. Hee accompts his vow
sanctemonious, and dare not consent to infringe it; although hee
professeth that in all other respects of health, esteeme, and reward hee
is soe happily (though undeservedly) gratified that hee should rather
make it his siite to renew his covenant, and willingly end his daies in
the performance of his endlesse obligations.

In writing thus, Methwold was looking well ahead, for he had
still two years to serve; and that he looked ahead for the
Company as well as for himself is shown by various passages,
such as one in a later letter, where, after commending the
abilities of a newly appointed factor, he continued: ““Of such
you should have a seminarie. . .one bred up under another, and
all of them emulating each other in their endeavours to attaine
unto preferment; and so after a few yeares you should not neede
to depend wholy upon your ancient servants .

In this same year, 1636, the routine of business was suddenly
interrupted by news that some vessels belonging to Surat had
been attacked by pirates at the mouth of the Red Sea: the
sufferers insisted that the pirates were English; and the Com-
pany’s servants at Surat were held responsible for the mis-
conduct of their fellow countrymen. Methwold’s account of
his experiences, when he had to face practically the entire
community of Surat, officials and merchants alike, and was
imprisoned, threatened, and brow-beaten, is too long to quote
here, but his attitude is sufficiently shown in the postscript to
the first portion: ““ God geve a faire issue. Whatsoever it bee, 1
am bound to see it, and thearefore attend it with much resolu-
tion. Theare can bee no feare wheare theare is so much 1nno-
cence; nor in my opinion inuch further trouble or losse then 1s
allready past”. Eventually, Methwold’s sagacious combination
of conciliation and firmness procured his release with *‘ mutual
imbracing and congratulations”, “and after full eight weekes
imprisonment I was thus enlarged with promise that wee might
freely and safely proceede in the prosecution of all our affaires ™.
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The usual detailed letters written from Surat to the Company
in the next two winters are missing, but the extant documents
show that the “‘prosecution of all our affaires” proceeded
successfully; and at the end of 1638 Methwold handed over
charge to his successor, and sailed for England, leaving a
prosperous business in the place which on his arrival he had
found desolate. Apart from the restoration of the Company’s
trade, Methwold had achieved an outstanding diplomatic suc-
cess in the conclusion of an agreement with the Viceroy of Goa,
by which, to quote Sir William Foster, *“ the attitude of hostility
in which Portuguese and English in the East had stood for more
than thirty years was changed into one of friendliness and
mutual assistance. The pacification thus effected has lasted
without a break down to the present time,”

Methwold reached England in December, 1639, and his
reception by the Company was cordial. For the remainder of
his life he was a busy and successful merchant on his own
account, while he gave much time to the conduct of the Com-
pany’s affairs. In 1640, at the first election after his return, he
was chosen to be one of the twenty-four ‘Committees’, or
Directors, of the Company, and in 1643 he was made Deputy
Governor in succession to William Cokayne, who then became
Governor. The two men were re-elected annually to these posts
until Methwold’s death in March, 1653, and their task was no
sinecure. The political situation in England went from bad to
worse, financial difficulties were acute, and at times it seemed as
if the Company must collapse ; but, with Cokayne and Methwold
at their head, the more resolute spirits struggled bravely on, and,
despite occasional periods of discouragement verging on despair,
the Company remained in being. That Methwold’s reputation
for outstanding ability extended beyond the mercantile com-
munity may be inferred from the facts that in 1649 he was
offered the post of Government Agent at the Spanish Court, an
offer which he apparently declined, and that in 1652 he was
considered by the Council of State as a possible ambassador to
Constantinople.

Ot Methwold’s private affairs during this period, we know
only that his business was successful. The records of the
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Company show that from time to time he purchased large
quantities of eastern goods, sometimes specifically for export,
and that he also acquired to a considerable value the ‘adven-
tures’, or, as we should say, the shares, held by other members
of the Company. He was also investing in land, including the
- . . . .
repurchase of the family estate, while just after his return from
India he bought Hale House with some adjoining land in
Kensington, and made his home there. His wife died in October,
1652, and in the following February he married again, but died
only three weeks later. By his will he established alms-houses
for six old women ; these were built in the vicinity of his home,
but were apparently demolished when the land on which they
stood was acquired by the Metropolitan Railway in 1867. Hale
House, which was subsequently known as Cromwell House,
remained in the possession of the family for a century, and was
then sold. The house was pulled down in 1853 when this part
of Kensington was being laid out; its actual site is now 1n the
roadway of Queen’s Gate, a few yards south of the point where
it is crossed by Cromwell Road.

'The circumstances in which Methwold wrote his Relation are
sufficiently indicated in the prefatory matter contained in the
Pilprimage. In the Epistle Dedicatorie to the Lord Archbishop
of Canterbury, Purchas wrote of the three narratives which he
included in the volume: “The Three Treatises annexed had
found fitter place with my Pilgrimes had they comme to my
hands: but their rarities merit a place, yea a welcome, in what
place soever”. In the separate preface provided for these
narratives the compiler was more explicit. ‘‘Reader,” he writes,
“T here present unto thee a later service, that which deserved
a fitter place in another worke; and which 1 had sought with
much industrie before, without successe.” Then, atter de-
scribing the narrative which precedes Methwold in the printed
volume, he continues:

Now for Master Methold, I had spared some of Frederikes,
Balbies, and Fitches Relations, if these had comme in time, which so
many times I had both by messages and in person sought, and by
reason of the Authors absence or business was frustrate. But the
reader will finde his labour and cost recompensed in the rarities of
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matter, and stile also travelling beyond the wonted pace of a mer-
chant-traveller. The Relation is correspondent to the subject, it
entreates of a mine of diamants, and is a mine of diamants it selfe.
Gemmes may bee put on after the whole bodie (so I call my former

large worke) is attired ; and after that full repast, as Indian drugs used
in second services, it will second thee with a new, and «efresh thee
with a fresh Indian appetite, and present unto thee (like spectacles
after great feasts) such a muster of Indian elements, affaires, men,
arts, religions, customes, and other varieties, as before we were not
able to bring on our stage.

Vale et fruere

No later edition of the Pilgrimage has appeared, and I cannot
trace any English reprint of Methwold’s Relation. A French
translation was included in M. Thévenot’s Divers Voyages
Curieux (Paris, 1663—2), while a Dutch version, which I have
not seen, was 1ssued by P. van der Aa, a publisher of Leyden,
The same publisher included in his Atlgs Nouveau et Curieux
a8 map (no. 56} intended to illustrate Methwold’s Relation, but
the topography is so distorted, and the location of particular
places so erroneous, as to deprive it of any value for the student.

5. The DurcH RELATIONS

I have described at some length the author of the first Relation;
of the others there is much less to be sajd. Antony Schorer was
apparently a commercial failure, and, so far as we can judge, a
person of no interest whatever, apart from the description he
has left us. Pieter Gielisz. van Ravesteyn, if he was in fact the
author of the anonymous Relation, was a bigger and more
successful man; but he died young, wornt out perhaps by his
twelve years’ continuous service in the East, and we know
practically nothing about him beyond his commercial activities.

In his Relation, Schorer gives only two items of information
regarding the duration of his service on the Coromandel Coast,
He tells us that he left Masulipatam shortly after an English
ship, the Globe, was sheathed at Narasapur; the English records
show that this work was completed in July, 1614. He tells us
further, in the title of his Relation, that he had “resided” at

MR ¢
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Masulipatam “‘in the service of the Hon’ble Company in the
seventh year”; the phrase is of a type which 1 have not met
elsewhere, and its meaning must be sought in other records.
The published records of the Dutch Company are far from
complete, and do not enablé us to frame anything like a con-
tinuous history of the staff of any particular factory. As a rule,
the staff consisted of a Chief, or senior factor, a ‘second person’
or junior factor, who was usually responsible for the accounts,
and a varying number of assistants. A change of the Chief is
usually, but not always, on record; a change of the ‘second
person’ may, or may not, be mentioned; the names of the
assistants occur only by accident,

Schorer was not one of the staff posted to Masulipatam on the
- establishment of the factory in 1606, and the first mention of
him that I have found shows that he was junior factor at that
place in October, 1609; but it suggests that by that time he
must have had some little experience, because he was chosen to
accompany Jan van Wesick, the Chiet at Nizdmpatam, on a
mission to the Court of Golconda, and it is unlikely that an
entire stranger to the country would have been selected for this
duty. He returned from this mission to Masulipatam, and in
1610 he was signing letters from that factory, along with van
Wesick, who had become its Chief. He was still at Masulipatam
in July, 1612, and in August, 1614, Wemmer van Berchem sent
him thence to Bantam in disgrace. On this occasion he was
described as ‘“accountant and formerly senior factor™, so
apparently he had been promoted, and then reduced. The
main faults alleged against him were that his accounts were in
great disorder, and had not been properly balanced for two
years, while there was a shortage in the cash, which he stated to
be due to a theft. No decision on these charges can be traced.
The Council at Bantam eventually sent Wemmer van Berchem
home, leaving all the complaints made by him, and against him,
to be disposed of by the Company, and there is no record of
what was ultimately done.

Schorer had thus served at Masulipatam from 160g, or
earlier, to 1614 ; as I have said above, he was not there in 1606,
and, since there is no record of new staff arriving on the Coast
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in 1607, the most probable date of his appointment is 1608, in
which year shipping arrived from Bantam. One possible inter-
pretation of his phrasé “in the seventh year” is that it refers to
the duration of the Company; the year of its establishment was
1602, and the seventh year would be 1608, which would then
be the date of Schorer’s arrival at Masulipatam. For this inter-
pretation it is necessary to take the somewhat pedantic expres-
sion ‘resided’ (geresideert) in the sense of ‘came into residence’;
I have found the word so rarely in the contemporary literature
that I cannot say whether or not this sense is admissible. 'The
other possible interpretation is that Schorer was trying to say
that he had reached his seventh year of service in Masulipatam,
but, if this was his object, he certainly failed to achieve it. The
two interpretations give the same result, that he was in Masuli-
patam from 1608 to 1614, and since this result is in accordance
with what can be learned from the published records, it is
unnecessary to pursue the matter further.

I have been unable to trace any record showing what hap-
pened to Schorer after he reached Bantam, and the next fact
which emerges 1s the appearance of the Relation among the
papers brought by the Green Lion, which left that port in
October, 1615, and arrived in Holland in the following June.
The Relation was included in a list of those papers which was
drawn up at the time in Holland, and was bound in the volume
containing them, so that we might infer that it had been
despatched along with them from Bantam. It is not, however,
mentioned in any of the letters brought by that vessel, as
would be natural if it had been so despatched, while its prepara-
tion in Holland, or at least in European waters, 1s suggested by
two passages. In one of these the writer says that the Persians
and other foreigners in Masulipatam were fair in complexion,
but had not the colour *‘ of the people in this country” (’f volck
hier te land); in the other, Indian sail cloth 1s described as
inferior to ‘‘that made here”, where the reference 1s obviously
to Holland. Had Schorer been writing in Asia, he would
almost certainly have said “in our country”, or “in our dear
fatherland”’, phrases which occur so often in the records. The
most probable explanation of these facts is that he travelled

L2
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home in the Green Lion, and that he wrote, or at least com-
pleted, the Relation either during the voyage, or so soon after
arrival that it could be recorded as having come by that vessel.
What is certain is that the Relation, which is addressed to the
Directors of the Company, was in their hands in 1616. I have
found no later reference to Schorer in the published records,
and probably he did not return to India.

Some extracts from the Relation were given in a condensed
form by van Dijk in his account of Wemmer van Berchem’s
work in India, but, so far as I can learn, the text has never been
printed either in original or in translation. The manuscript 1s
contained in the series of records known in the Rijksarchief at
The Hague as Overgekomen brieven en papieren [Letters and
Papers Received], and appears as ff. 166-170 of Book 1 of 1616,
The transcripts from Archives at The Hague, which are in the
India Office, include certain extracts (paper no. LXXXI in vol. I1I
of Series 1). The manuscript is exceptionally clear, and is
obviously a fair copy made with great care; the baldness of the
style is, I hope, sufficiently indicated in my version,

Of the third, anonymous, Relation no manuscript has been
traced. It appeared originally in the collection of Dutch voyages
issued with the title ‘“Origin and Progress (Begin ende Voort-
gangh) of the United Dutch Chartered East India Company .
The Editor of that collection inserted it at p. 77 of his reprint of
Pieter van den Broeke's Voyage to the East Indies; he gave
neither the author nor the date, and it has been occasionally
cited as if it were van den Broeke’s work, but this is certainly
not the case, for the writer tells us in his opening paragraph that
he had lived for about six years in Nizdmpatam, while van den
Broeke’s own account shows that he spent only a few weeks on
the Coromandel Coast, and he was certainly never stationed at
Nizampatam for any length of time. From the position of the
insertion it may be inferred that the editor thought 1t desirable
to supplement van den Broeke’s brief account of his visit to
Golconda by a more detailed description of the country, and
that he chose for the purpose this Relation, which, it may be
assumed, he had obtained, along with other documents, from
the records of the Dutch Company.
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Apart from the opening paragraph, the Relation contains
very little material for determining its date or authorship. The
period to which it belongs is, however, indicated by the state-
ment that the writer was with Jan van Wesick when he witnessed
widow-burning for the first time. Van Wesick was appointed
Chief at Nizampatam in the year 1608, and was transferred to
Masulipatam in June, 1610; at the end of this year he became
Director of all the factories in Coromandel, with headquarters
at Pulicat; and in 1612 he left the Coast for Bantam. The
incident in question must thus lie between 1608 and 1610.

In his account of the administration of Golconda, the writer
mentions that he often travelled through the country. Some
records quoted by Dr Terpstra indicate that at this time 1t was
the duty of the Chief at Nizimpatam to make tours of inspection
lasting for some days; there is thus a suggestion that the writer
may have been Chief for some part of his service.

In one place the writer mentions the death of a daughter of
the King of Golconda ““more than 44 years ago”. The records
show that van Wesick’s negotiations at Golconda in November,
1609, were delayed by the death of the King’s daughter; if the
reference is to this event, as is likely enough, but by no means
certain, the date of the Relation would be after the middle of
1014. |

In another place, the writer refers to ‘“the execution of
Schengan” as a recent event, completing the discomfiture of the
Portuguese on the Coromandel Coast. Schengan, or Xenga,
was either the title or the nick-name of Philip de Brito, a
Portuguese adventurer who had established himself at Syriam
in Pegu. The news of his capture and execution reached Masuli-
patam 1n February, 1614, so presumably the Relation was
written shortly after this date.

A more definite indication of the date is found in the state-
ment that the indigo-trade between the Golconda kingdom and
the West Coast had been interrupted for ‘“the last two years”
by war between the Portuguese and the officers of Ahmadnagar
stationed at the port of Chaul. After some preliminary bickering,
this war broke out in 1612, and peace was not made until April,
1615. The indigo-trade was carried on mainly during the
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- winter and spring, so that we may infer that “the last two
years” were the seasons of 1612-13 and 1613-14, or in other
words, that the Relation was written in the summer or autumn
of 1614.

We may take it then that the writer’s residence of “about six
years” in Nizampatam ran from 1608 to 1614, and we have to
see 1f the published records furnish a clue to his identity. The
staff employed at this factory was small, six persons in all when
it was founded in 1606, and four persons when Schorer left the
Coast in 1614. Of the men whose names appear in the records,
there is one, and only one, whose experience covers this period
exactly. Pieter Gielisz. (or Jelis) van Ravesteyn came from
Holland to the Coast in 1608, and in November of that year was
posted as junior factor to Nizampatam, where van Wesick had
recently become Chief. He was there in 1609, he succeeded van
Wesick as Chief in 1610, and he still held this post in 1612. The
next relevant date in the published records is June, 161 4, when
J. Lefebure was appointed Chief of the factory.

Through the kindness of Mr Bijlsma, of the Rijksarchief, I
am able to supplement the published records at this point. Van
Ravesteyn’s engagement as Chief at Nizampatam expired in
June, 1612, but his term was prolonged for two years. He
remained at Nizimpatam till June, 1614, when he sailed on the
Ter Goes for Bantam. He returned to the Coast on the same
ship in March, 1615, and by decision of the local Council he was
sent overland to Surat, in order to recover some property which
was in possession of the authorities at that seaport. His journal
of this expedition, and his report on Surat, have been published
by Dr Terpstra in De Opkomst der Westerkwartieren (The
Hague, 1918), where the remainder of his life is outlined. He
returned to Masulipatam in February, 1616, and apparently
went to Java in that year, for in 1617 he accompanied Pieter van
den Broeke on the voyage from Java to Surat. He was left at
Surat as senior factor, and remained there till 1620, when his
engagement expired, and he returned to Batavia. In 1621 he
sailled in command of a ship going thence to the Red Sea, but
died on the voyage. From the dates given above, it is obvious
that van Ravesteyn could have written this Relation in the
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second half of 1614, the date indicated by internal evidence,
either on the voyage, or during his stay at Bantam. |

Van Ravesteyn’s journal and report bear some resemblance 1n.
point of style and language to the anonymous Relation. There is
the same preference for foreign words and Latin phrases, and 2
few characteristic expressions recur ; but nobody has a monopoly
of phrases or expressions, and all that can be safely inferred 1s
that van Ravesteyn may have written the Relation, so far as
style and language are concerned,

One point of detail may be mentioned. In the Relation, the
style of the Qutbshahi dynasty of Golconda appears as Cotebipa.
It is not easy to account for the p in this word as a misreading of
any of the forms which shah takes in the Dutch commercial
script of the period. On the other hand, one form of p in that
script is so like x that confusion between the two letters 1S
always possible. Cotebipa might thus be a misreading of
Cotebixa, which is one of the Portuguese forms of the word
(x having the sound of sk in Portuguese). Now van Ravesteyn
in his journal regularly used the form Cotebixa, which 1 have
met nowhere else in Dutch records. The anomalous form found
in the Relation can thus be explained on the theory that it was
written by van Ravesteyn, and that either copyist or printer,
unfamiliar with the word, read his x as a p. Extant specimens
of his handwriting are almost unknown, but Mr Bijlsma has
found for me a letter of the year 1618 signed by him, and
containing marginal additions in his hand; in these the letter p
is written in a form very like an ordinary «, so that confusion
between the two was possible.

From the nature of the case, proof of the authorship of the
Relation is unattainable, but the considerations I have stated
appear to'me to establish a definite probability that it 1s the
work of van Ravesteyn: in the alternative, the author was some
junior or assistant whose name is not traceable in the published
records. In either case, its authority rests on the fact that the
writer spent six years in one station, and must have acquired a
fairly accurate knowledge of the life in that particular locality.

Nothing is known of the subsequent history of the manu-
script. We may guess that it was transmitted in due course to
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Holland for the information of the Directors of the Company,
“that it was handed over to the compiler of Begin ende Voortgangh,
and that it was not preserved after printing; but we know only
that it cannot now be traced. The various early appearances of
the printed text can be studied in P. A. Tiele’s Mémoire
Bibliographique sur les Journaux des Navigateurs Néerlandats,
which was published at Amsterdam in 1867. The original issues
of van den Broeke’s voyages, made at Haarlem and Amsterdam
iIn 1634, do not contain the Relation. It appears in the four
editions (1644—46) of Begin ende Voortgangh edited by Isaac
Commelin, a publisher of Amsterdam; his name does not
appear in the volumes, but it is used in modern library cata-
logues. I have not seen the two earlier editions (1644 and 1645)
of this compilation, but Tiele says that, so far as van den
Broeke’s voyages are concerned, they are identical with those of
1646, from which my translation has been prepared. In 1648
two editions of a collection—Qost Indische Voyagien. ..—were
published at Amsterdam by Joost Hartgers, or Hartgerts. So
far as van den Brocke’s voyages are concerned, these are de-
scribed by Tiele as reprints of Begin ende Voortgangh. In the
same year, the same publisher reissued van den Broeke’s
voyages as a separate volume; it contains this Relation with a
very few verbal changes, and a few fresh distortions of the
Indian names; and comparison shows it to be identical with the
version contained in the compilation just mentioned. Some-
what later, probably in 1663—70, an abbreviated and mutilated
reprint of Hartgers’ compilation was published by G. J.
Saeghman : this I have not seen.

To these facts, which are taken mainly from Tiele’s Mémoire,
it may be added that a French collection of Dutch voyages—
Recueil des Voyages. . .dans les Provinces-Unies, published by
R. A. C. de Renneville (Amsterdam, 1702, Rouen, 1725, and
Amsterdam, 1754)-—contains van den Broeke’s voyages, but the
translation of the Relation is by no means accurate, and possibly
its errors were propagated in translations made subsequently
into other languages. I have not however thought it necessary
to search for these. I have found no suggestion of any reissue
of the Relation from the original manuscript, and there is no
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doubt that the text as given in Begin ende Voortgangh 1s the
nearest to it which we possess.

The defects of that text will be obvious to the reader, so far
as the spelling of Indian names is concerned, and from some
footnotes in which I have offered conjectural emendations.
There is, too, room for suspicion that the Relation may have
been curtailed in printing. The close is so abrupt as to suggest
that the end may have been discarded, but it is also possible that
the author may not have had time to complete his work; if, for
instance, the writer was van Ravesteyn, his stay at Bantam was
very short, and it is quite concetvable that he may have handed
over what he had written to the authorities there, rather than
carry the manuscript back with him to India for completion.
The text also contains some transitions so abrupt as to suggest
that some connecting matter has been omitted, but the inference
is by no means certain. All that can be said is that the original

Relation may have been longer,

§ 6. GoLcoNDA and MASULIPATAM

The foregoing sections contain, I hope, as much information as
will be required by ordinzry readers as an approach to the
Relations : there remains one topic which will interest only a
few, but yet cannot be avoided,—the correct forms of the
names of the kingdom and its most important seaport.

As regards the kingdom, there 1s no doubt that its name was
derived from the original capital, at first merely a hill-fortress.
The form Gui-khwanda, ‘rose-named’, which is occasionally
advanced in India, may safely be discarded as an ingenious bit
of Persianisation; the latter part of the name is certainly the
Telugu word konda, ‘hill’, which we meet also 1n the names of
other hill-fortresses, such as Bellamkonda or Kondavid. The
compiler of the Kistna District Manual wrote (p. 244) that
““Golconda 1s 2 common enough name in the Telugu country,
being simply Galikonda, the hill of tempests, and is given to
several peaks on which the storm-clouds gather”. This expla-
nation has, however, been questioned by every speaker of the
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language whom I have consulted, and they concur in the view
that the name is a regularly formed compound from golia,
‘shepherd’, that it means ‘shepherd’s hill’, and that it might be
given to any hill where the shepherds were accustomed to graze
their flocks. The latter view is to some extent supported by the
fact that the first vowel is short in the Persian chronicles, but
their transliteration is so haphazard that not very much weight
can be attached to this consideration. Speaking for myself, I
regard the latter explanation as being more probable, because
more prosaic; but I can trace no evidence regarding the grigin
of the name in the form of inscriptions or early documents, and
in the absence of evidence a final verdict is impossible.

As regards the name of the seaport, it will be noticed that all
three Relations use the termination -patnam, though in the
third it was frequently misprinted as -patuam. This is a fairly
correct reproduction of the Telugu -pattanamu, ‘-ton’ or
‘_town’, and the commoner forms, -patam or -patan, must be
attributed to Portuguese influence. Following their usual prac-
tice, the Portuguese accented and nasalised the last syllable, and
added an o to give the word a Portuguese form. These processes
would give us -pafndo; but I have never seen this form, and it
may be presumed that the original z fused with the introduced
nasal sound, giving -patdo, the form used consistently from the
sixteenth century downwards. Europeans of other races who
took the name from Portuguese interpreters, and de-nasalised
the termination, would naturally write -patam, or -patan, while
those who, like the authors of the Relations, took 1t trom the
inhabitants, would write -patnam.

The first portion of the name leads to obscure questions
which I cannot answer and would gladly avoid, but some notice
of them is necessary, because they are raised by William
Methwold himself, in his statement that Masulipatam *‘was
first a poore fisher towne, from whence 1t tooke the name it yet
retaynes; afterwards the conveniencie of the road made 1t a fit
residence for merchants™.

Now from the middle of the seventeenth century onwards
Europeans of various nations, other than the Portuguese, wrote
the second consonant in the name as a palatal, ch, instead of a
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sibilant: and when it was so written, the reference to the Hindi
word machhli, ‘fish’, became inevitable. At first sight then, it
would suffice to say that Methwold was thinking of this Hindi
word ; but we have to remember that Hindi was not the language
of the country, nor was it spoken by Methwold, while the facts
on record show that the palatal spelling had not been introduced
in his time,

To take the latter point first, the earliest use of the palatal
which I have found dates from 1647 (English Factories, Vi1, 133),
after swhich it rapidly became common ; but in Methwold’s time,
and before, the word was certainly pronounced with s not ¢h.
The Dutch always used s or 2, but their use is ambiguous,
because, having no palatal sounds in their own language, they
were put to various shifts to represent what they heard in India,
and the commonest of these was to use some sibilant. The
Portuguese, on the other hand, distinguished the palatal sound
systematically, representing it by c¢; and I have not found a
single case of confusion between the two in their early literature.
With them the form Masulipatio has prevailed from the middle
of the sixteenth century, and there is no doubt that they heard
a sibilant, not a palatal.

This is true of the English also, who were familiar with
palatal sounds in their own language. Apart from Methwold's
own use, we have the name 38 times in Purchas his Pilgrimes,
always with 5; it occurs more than 150 times in Letters Received,
all with s; it occurs more than 160 times in English Factories,
down to 1645, all with s; and the same form is used by Jourdain,
Roe, Mundy, and various other writers of the period. Even
when the name was distorted, as in the grotesque form,
Mesopotamia, found in some early English letters, the s was
preserved. It is certain, then, that Methwold heard the name
pronounced with s; and it is certain that he heard 1t so pro-
nounced by the inhabitants, for, if he had taken the pronunciation
from Portuguese interpreters, he would have written -patam,
not -painam.

I have failed to trace the name in earlier literature. This
region is not described in any detail by the Arab geographers;
and the only possible reference to the seaport 1s the Mah Fatan
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(Elliot’s History, 1, 72), on the long road from Mabar (Coroman-
del) to Khitai (China}, 2 route which, so far as I can find, has
not been worked out in detail. The Greeks make no mention of
any seaport with an identifiable name in this locality ; while the
Masalia region of the Periplus, and the Maisolia country of
Ptolemy, though very intriguing, are irrelevant for the present
purpose, because the Greeks, like the Dutch, represented
palatal sounds by sibilants, as in Barugaza for Bharukachchha,
and Sandrokottos for Chandragupta.

It is impossible then to affirm that up to 1047 the name was
always spelt with a sibilant, but the pronunciation in Methwold’s
time is fixed: and we have to choose whether he was referring
to the Hindi word machhli, or to some southern word for fish,
spelt with s. The former is not impossible, any more than it is
impossible that a Norwegian word should be used to explain
the name of a place on the shores of the Adriatic; but the pro-
babilities are that he was thinking of some word nearer home,
I gather from the dictionaries that the Sanskrit matsya, ‘fish’,
the origin of the Hindi machhli, appears as masoli and mdasali in
the languages of the West Coast, which Methwold had visited,
while I am informed that the Telugu form, which is now written
as machalii, is commonly pronounced masali. 1 suggest then
that Methwold was probably thinking of some such form, spelt
or pronounced with an s, not that he was referring to the more
remote and less similar machhli.

Whether Methwold’s derivation is accurate is quite another
question. Place-names are ordinarily distinctive, and ‘Fishton’
would be appropriate to nearly every village on the East Coast.
Possibly this consideration may account for the tradition re-
corded in Hobson-Yobson (s.v.) that the name arose from the fact
of a whale having once been stranded on the shore; but this
tradition would almost certainly have been mentioned by
Methwold if it had been current in his time. The probabilities
are that the true derivation is from some word like that for fish,
but with a different meaning; that the similarity gave rise to the
false derivation from fish; and that, when Hindi speakers ap-
peared in this region, they altered the spelling to assimilate it to
the word for fish with which they were familiar. Various such




COLCONDA AND MASULIPATAM xlix

words have been suggested to me, One gentleman tells me of a
common word musk for cotton goods, but its age is very dubious,
and it may be simply some form of ‘muslin’ naturalised in the
bazaar. More probable candidates are musal, which in Taml
means ‘hare’, mosali, Telugu for ‘ crocodile’, or mas@il@, Telugu
for ‘handicrafts’. The view 1 have suggested is thus tenable,
but there is no evidence available to show how the name actually
originated ; what is certain is that during our period the name

should be spelt with s, not ch,

=



AUTHORITIES FOR THE INTRODUCTION

Note. The full titles of works cited here and elsewhere in abbreviated
form will be found in the List of Authorities at the end of the volume.

SECTION 1, The story of the rise of Golconda is condensed from
vol. 111 of the Cambridge History of India, chs. 111-vil, Xv—XxvIII; the
original authorities are set out in the bibliographies relating to those
chapters. The volume dealing with the southward advance of the
Moguls has not yet appeared, and I have relied on the various sources
enumerated in Appendix D of V. Smith’s Akbar the Great Mogul
{Oxford, 1919), and on the chronicles relating to the reigns of Jahingir
and Shahjahan, especially the Tizuk, the Igbdlndma, and the Bddshah-
nama.

The description of the kingdom is drawn from the Relations, sup-
plemented by the relevant District Manuals and Gazetteers. The
weaving industry is dealt with in more detail in chapters 11-1v of my
book From Akbar to Aurangzeb (London, 1923); an attempt at classi-
fying the exports of cotton goods will be found in Indian Fournal of
Economics, January, 1925,

SecTION 2. The entry of Europeans into the sea-borne commerce of
Asia is described at greater length in From Akbar to Aurangzeb,
chapters I-1v, and Appendix A, where detailed references will be found. -

SeEcTiON 3. This is a summary of the sections which follow, and 1s
based on the authorities quoted for them.

SECTION 4. Methwold’s first appointment is recorded in Court
Minutes, 25th September, 1615. The fight with the carrack on the
outward voyage is related In Pilgrimes, 1, ix, 1465. Methwold’s
activities in Gujarat are in Letters Received, 1v, 189—-198; v, 85—130; and
his voyage to Tiku and Bantam can be followed in the index to the
latter volume. His life at Masulipatam is dealt with in his letters
thence scattered through English Factories, 1, 11. The order for his recall
is in Court Minutes, 23rd October, 1618. For the Java Council’s report
on his work, see English Factories, 13, 193, and for the decision of the
Directors, Court Minutes, 17th October, 1623 to 2nd April, 1624.

Nearly all that can be learned of his activities during the next ten
yvears 1s contained in the Court Minutes: his admission as a ‘free
brother’ to the Company, 27th June, 1628: his offer to go to Persia,
oth January, 1629: his appointment to Surat, 22nd February, 1632—3.
The facts regarding his appointment as deputy Sword-bearer are in the
City records at the Guildhall, and were communicated by the Record
Officer, Mr A. H. Thomas.

Methwold’s letters from Surat are in English Factories, Iv—vI1: the
quotations given in the text are taken from 1v, p. xxxiii; V, 59-b3,
146, 181, 208; his narrative of his imprisonment is v, 232, 251; the
agreement with the Portuguese is v, 8g, and the negotiations are
summarised on pp. vii-x of the Introduction to that volume.
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From the date of his return to England, Methwold’s name recurs
constantly in Court Minutes. His election as a Committee 1s 3rd July,
1640, and as Deputy Governor, sth July, 1643; his commercial and
financial transactions are scattered through the volumes. The informa-
tion regarding his home at Hale House was communicated mainly by
Mr Haywood Jones, Assistant Borough L.ibrarian of Kensington.

SECTION 5. There are no Calendars of the Dutch records, such as those
which make reference so simple in the case of the records at the India
Office. Up to 1610 the relevant records are dealt with in Terpstra, and
from 1612 to 1615 in van Dijk; while the letters of J. P, Coen are in the
Bescheiden. The period is covered also by N. Macleod’s De Qost-
Indische Compagnie als Zeemogendheid in Azie (Ryzwyk, 1927), but it
contains no matter relevant to the Relations beyond what is in the
earlier works cited.

The facts regarding Schorer’s career are taken from Terpstra, 105,
121 n, van Dk, 20, 41, Coen-Bescheiden, i, 168. The information
regarding the receipt of his Relation was communicated by Mr
Bijlsma of the Rijksarchief,

'The dates of van Wesick’s service are taken from Terpsira, 65, 138,
158, and van Digk, 18. The other references in these paragraphs are
Terpstra, 73, 108; Pilgrimes, I, iii, 325; and, for the war at Chaul,
Danvers, 11, 158, Letters Recetved, 11, 257, and Westerkwartieren, 177.

The authorities for van Ravesteyn’s service in India are Terpstra, 82,
94, 138; van Dyk, 20, 45 ; and Westerkwartieren, passim. The informa-
tion for the period 1612—-14, furnished by Mr Bijlsma, is drawn from
a MS. account-book of the Nizimpatam factory, a letter written by
Wemmer van Berchem at Masulipatam on 16th August, 1614, and the
proceedings of the Council sitting at ‘T'ierepopelier in March, 1615. The
single specimen of van Ravesteyn’s handwriting is in Quergekomen
Brieven en Papieren, 1619, Bk. 11, f. 315.

SECTION 6. Portuguese practice in transforming oriental names 1is
discussed in the Introduction to Dalgado: the body of this work shows
passim (especially under letter C) their treatment of the palatal sound
ch. For variations in the spelling of Masulipatam, see (besides Hobson-
Fobson) Indian Antiguary, XXX, 354, 397. The references to Greek
geographers are (1) The Periplus of the Erythraean Sea, by W. H.
Schoff (London, 1912), 47, 252; (2) Ancient India as described by
Ptolemy, by J. W. McCrindle, ed. S. M. Sastri (Calcutta, 1927}, 6567,

103, 185.
il



i

N !
#

ST e ey,
ERER GG ERERTRR
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OF THE KINGDOME OF GOLCHONDA,

AND OTHER NEIGHBOURING NATIONS
within the GULFE 0F BENGALA, ARRECCAN, PEGU,

- TANNASSERY, etc., and the English Trade in those

Darts, by MASTER WILLIAM METHOLD.

HE Gulfe of Bengalar (famous for its dimensions) ex-
tendeth itselfe from the Cape called Comorijne, lying in
8 degrees of North latitude, unto Chatigan the bottome

- thereof, which, being in 22 degrees, is not lesse as the coast lyeth

#
f

then a 1000 English miles, and in breadth goo, limited on the
rther side by Cape Singapura, which lyeth in 1 degree of South
[North] latitude; washeth the coast of these great and fertile
tingdomes, viz., Ziloan, Bisnagar, Golchonda, Bengala, Arrec-
¢an, Pegu and Tanassery; and receiveth into its * bosome many
yavigable rivers, which lose their note and names in the eminent
keighbourhood of the famous Ganges; whose unknowne head,
pleasant streames, and long extent, have amongst those heathen
mhabitants (by the tradition of their forefathers) gained a beliefe
if clensing all such sinnes as the bodies of those that wash therein
brought with them; for which cause many are the pilgrimes that
iesort from farre to this lasting jubilee,? with some of whom I

' In modern conventional spelling the names in this sentence are : the Bay of
bengal, Cape Comorin, Chittagong, Cape Singapore, Ceylon, Vijayanagar,
Golconda, Bengal, Arakan, Pegu, Tenasserim. At this time Singapore was
nerely a geographical term; the modern city had not been founded. Meth-
vold’s figures of distances are too low; the British India S.N. Co. reckon
B20 nautical miles from Chittagong, and 1567 from Singapore, to Colombo,
tie nearest large seaport to Cape Comorin,

' * The reference is to the ecclesiastical use of the word *jubilee ’ to denote the

{ ¢castonal grant of remission from the penal consequences of sin; the epithet

]

sting’ marks the distinction between such occasional remissions and the
rrntinuﬂus effect attributed by the Hindu religion to bathing in the Ganges.

MR 1
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2 METHWOLD’S RELATION

have had conference, and from their owne reports I insert this

their beliefe.
Zeloan or The Island of Zeloan [Ceylon] our Nation hath onely lookt
Zellan upon en passant, The Portugals, that clayme all East India by

donation,® hold a great part of this in subjection, and with such
assurance that they beleeve they can make it good against all
their enemies, yet are not they the onely lords thereof, for the
naturall inhabitants have also their King, commonly called the
Candy King of Candy;* with whom the Danes had not long since a
fruitlesse treaty for commerce, which falling short of their—

expectation, they fortified upon the mayne [mainland] not fa:
from Negapatnam,? at a place called Trangabay,® with wha
successe or hopes of benefit I cannot relate,
The first kingdome upon the mayne is that ancient one of
Bisnagar,5 rent at this time into severall provinces or govern-
P Captaines ments held by the PNaickes of that countrey in their owne right;
Governours  {or since the last King (who deceased about fiftene yeeres since

I See the Cambridge Modern History, 1, ch, I, for a short account of the Bull
of Pope Alexander VI, which in the popular view granted the Portuguese an
exclusive right to the East Indies. Purchas could not ‘suffer this Bull to pass
unbaited’, and he ‘baited’ it at considerable length in the Pilgrimes, 1, 11,

218 {1,

2 Kandy, the capital of the native kingdom, which maintained its inde-
pendence against the Portuguese established at Colombo and elsewhere on
the coast: for its history, see P. E. Pieris, Cevion, the Portuguese Era (Colombo,
1913—14). A short account of the early experience of the Danes will be found
in English Faciories, 1, p. xlv. |

3 Atthis period Negapatam, now in the Tanjore district, was de facto in the
possession of the Portuguese, but was not Portuguese territory (Couto, X, 1,
49). The spelling -patnam is discussed in the Introduction, § 6.

4 Tranquebar, or Tarangampadi, on the coast, 18 miles north of Negapatam.
The Damsh E.I. Co. obtained a grant of land here in 1620; the fort whml*
they built belonged to Denmark until 1845.

5 Bisnagar was the Portuguese form of Vijayanagar, the extensive Hmdu
kingdom which dominated the south of India from the fourteenth to the
sixteenth century. The original capital city, from which the kingdom was
named, was destroyed after the battle of T4alikotd in 1565, and at this period
the capital was at Vellore, now in the North Arcot district. Nayak was the
designation of the principal Governors, among whom authority over the
kingdom was distributed. The ‘last king’ was Venkata I, who died in 1614
(Pilgrimes, 1, 111, 326), or rather less than ‘fifteen years since’. Mr R. S
Aiyar, discussing the position of the kingdom in the half-century following
Tahkota, concludes (Fournal of Indian History, April, 1927, p. 78) that
‘provincial insubordmation exhibited itself with potency only after the death
of Venkata I’°, a view which agrees substantially with Methwold’s statement.
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there have arisen severall competitors for the crowne, unto
whom the Naickes have adhered according to their factions, or
affections ; from whence hath followed a continuall civill warre
in some parts of the countrey, and such extreame want and
famine in most of it, that parents have brought thousands of
their young children to the sea side, selling there a child for five
dfanums® worth of rice, transported from thence into other parts
of India, and sold againe to good advantage, if the gaines be good
that ariseth from the sale of soules.

In this kingdome lyeth the towne of Saint Thome,* inhabited
and governed by Portugals, who notwithstanding must acknow-
ledge some dependency from the Naicke that holds that part of
the countrey, of whom (after some siege endured by them) they
were enforced, about three yeeres since, to buy their peace with
a summe of money; for their towne is onely fortified towards the
sea, but to landwards no otherwise then with their houses, which
are built strong, close and defensible.

Not farre from Saint Thome lyeth Pallecat,? a badde neigh-
bour to the Portugall since the Dutch possessed their castle in
that place; for with shipping great and smal, which they con-
stantly kept upon that coast, they so scowre it that a Portugall
frigat4 stirre not but in the confidence of her better sayling, nor
dares anchor before the towne, for feare of being fetcht from
thence; but if they escape at sea, either unseene or by their speed,
they presently [immediately] unlade, haling their ships on shoare
close under the wall; from whence it followeth, the trade of that
place [S. Thomé] is so much decayed, that the Portugall in-
habitants are become much impoverished. Wherein it is worth

1 Fanam, a very small gold coin, [ts relation to the pagoda, the larger coin,
i1s discussed in the Appendix; the value of sixpence, taken in the marginal
note, 1s approximately correct for this period.

* 8. Thomé, now a suburb of the city of Madras, Couto, X, 1, 49, classes it
with Negapatam as not being Portuguese territory, but in fact governed by
the Portuguese residents, Balbi’s reference to it will be found in the Pilgrimes,
11, x, 1723.

3 Pulicat, on the coast, 25 miles north of Madras. The history of Fort
Geldria, the Dutch stronghold, is sketched in the Introduction,

4 Frigates at this period were small coasting vessels, which could be rowed
as well as sailed, and were primarily for cargo, though they were frequently
fitted out for coastal fighting.
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the observation to consider their malice punished in the effect
of it: for the Hollanders, after some experience of the trade in
India, finding commodities of Saint Thome and that coast to be
very vendible, and to good profit, in the Moluccoes, Banda,
Amboyna, Java, Sumatra, and other those easterne parts,® pro-
cured from the last King of Bisnagar free commerce in his
countrey, and to that purpose setled at first a factory in Pallecut,
where they left sixe or seven Hollanders to negotiate their
affaires: but the Portugals of Saint Thome, not brooking any
Christian corrivall so neere them in the same course of trade,
came downe with their whole power of frigats, and landing at
Pallecut, they assaulted the Dutch house, which was for a time
resolutely defended, untill, some being slaine, the rest yeelded
after promise of life and good quarter, but were carried prisoners
to Saint Thome, from whence with much ditheulty some es-
caped, and amongst them the chiefe Factor,? from whose rela-
tion [ insert this discourse.

The King (upon knowledge of this assault, and the Hollanders
instant suite to bee better secured) permitted them to build a
fort, conditionally that the one halfe of the souldiers should be
of his subjects, which tooke place; and the fort being finished,
it was devided,and halved betwixt the Gentiles3 and Hollanders;
untill, many differences arising amongst so different cohabitants,
the King called away his people, leaving the fort wholy in the
Dutches power, which since they have enlarged and strengthened,
and now call it Gueldrea [Geldria]; wherein since the Treaty of

T 'This part of the Coromandel Coast was the chief seat of the manufacture
of the patterned cotton cloths, known commercially as pintado, or ‘ painted’,
which were the goods in most demand in the Spice Islands, as well as in parts
of Java and Sumatra. Merchants engaged in the spice trade were conse-
quently under a strong inducement to establish agencies, or ‘ factories’ as they
were then called, in localities where they could obtain these goods at first

hand.

% The name in the margin represents Signor Adolf Thomaszoon. He ap-
pears below as one of Methwold’s companions on the visit to the diamond-
field. The title ‘signor’ was at this time not confined to Italians, but was
frequently given to any foreigner of position; Purchas, or his printer, usually
showed it as ‘ Sir’. The Portuguese attack on Pulicat was made in the summer
of 1612 (van Dijk, 20 f1.).

3 The term ‘ pentiles’ was commonly applied at this period to Hindus, as a
unit, contrasted with ¢ Moors’, z.e. Moslems, and Christians; it represents the
Portuguese gentio. Sec Hobson-Fobson, s.v. Gentoo,
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1619," our nation, for the moyetie of an oppressed trade, have
borne the uttermost charge of halfe the garrison, without par-
ticipation of such benefits as in equity ought to ensue; but my
affection to that nation, and the condition of the times, forbids
me to aggravate or adde to our just quarrell for their unjust and
cruell proceedings in Amboyna.>

5o that now the Portugals, in place of nerghbouring merchants
whom they disturbed, are galled with a garrison of profest
enemies whom they cannot remoove; for their owne power is
not sufficient, and assistance from the Vice-roy they shall not
have, if their present ruines were in question, because they
neither assist in person or contribution the generall affaires of
India,? but are, with their consorts the Portugals inhabiting
Bengala, accounted Levantadoes del Rey, exempted from their
Princes protection.?

Onely they have to their power incensed some of the Naickes
against the Hollanders, who about foure yeares since’ with sixe
thousand men besieged Pallecut, but at such distance, and with
so little advantage, that an easie composition raysed the siege,
and little of that given by the Hollanders, but from the natives
subsisting under their protection, over whom they pretend no
sovereignetie,® exact no duties, nor prescribe no lawes: con-

' In this year an agreement, known as the Treaty of Defence, was made
between the English and Dutch Companies, to share the eastern trade, over
which their servants in the East had been at war ; see Calendar of State Papers,
Col. sertes, East Indies, 1617—21, for the negotiations. ‘The result was inevitably
constant friction between the servants of the two Companies, as described in
English Factories, 11, p. xxxv. The English withdrew from Pulicat in 1623.

* The reference is to what became known as ‘the massacre of Amboyna’,
In 1623 the English merchants resident in the Dutch fort on that island were
charged with conspiracy to seize it, and most of them were executed on
confessions obtained by torture (Cal. State Papers, E.I, 1622-24, passim),
The news led to violent popular demonstrations in London, and the hostility
to Holland had not subsided when Methwold wrote.

3 "India’ is used here in the special sense of the Portuguese power in the
East, a sense which is common in the literature of the sixteenth century.

¢ The probable meaning is ‘rebels against the King’; but Professor E.
Prestage informs me that the phrase ought to be levantados contra el Rei.

5 Pulicat was besieged for two months in 1620 (English Factories, 1,
196 n),

¢ This was true when Methwold wrote, but, as time went on, the Dutch
assumed territorial jurisdiction over their settlement.

Portugals
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tenting themselves in confronting the Portugall, and nego-
tiating their affaires of merchandizing.

In sixteene degrees and a halfe lyeth Musulipatnam,® the
chiefe port of the Kingdome of Golchonda, where the Right
Worshipfull East Indian Company have their Agent and
severall factories in that place and Petapoley,* first protected
and setled by Peter Willemson Floris and Lucas Anthonison,
who, in the employment of English adventurers, arrived there
about thirteene yeares since in the Globe of London: since
which time, commerce hath beene continued in those parts, and
amongst other their servants my selfe received their employ-
ment, and from almost five yeares residence in that place (at the
request of the authour of this laborious volume) am emboldened
to publish such remarkable things as have falne within the
compasse of my observation,

It is a2 small towne, but populous, unwalled, ill built, and

 worse situated ; within, all the spring|s] are brackish, and

without, over-flowed with every high sea for almost halfe a mile
about. It was first a poore fisher towne, from whence it tooke
the name it yet retaynes;3 afterwards the conveniencie of the
road{-stead] made it a fit residence for merchants, and so
continueth (with increase of trade) since our and the Dutch
nation frequented this Coast.

The climate is very healthtull, and the yeere devided in their
account into three different seasons, whereof March, Aprill,
May, and June they call the hote season, and not without good
cause; for the sunne, being returned into their hemisphere, doth
not alone scortch the earth with his piercing beames, but even
the winde, which should asswage his fury, addes greater fire, and
yeerely about mid May, with a strong westerly gale, brings off

I Masulipatam, then the principal seaport of the kingdom of Golconda, now
the headquarters of the Kistna district. The Dutch established their factory
here in 1606, under an agreement with the King (Terpsira, 40 {f.). The voyage
of the Globe is narrated in the Pilgrimes, I, i, 304 ff.; the vessel reached
Masulipatam on joth November, 1611. Antheunis 1s the commonest form of

the name given in the text as Anthonison; both he and Floris were Dutchmen.
The marginal reference is to Pilgrimes, 1, 11, 319 ff,

3 Petapoley 1s Peddapalle, more generally known as Nizimpatam, 40 miles
5.W. of Masulipatam,

3 This statement is discussed in the Introduction, § 6.



CLIMATE - '

the land a sensible heat, as when a house is on fire, such as are
neere to leeward can hardly endure; and this so penetrateth that,
the doores and windowes being shut, the houses are notwith-
standing so warmed that the chaires and stooles admit hardly
the uses they were made for without cooling them, and the place
where we abide, by often sprinkling of water; but the extremity
hereof neyther lasteth long nor commeth often, onely five or
seven dayes in a yeere, and then but from nine or ten 2 clocke in
the forenoone untill four or five in the afternoone, at which
time a coole breeze from off the sea qualifies againe this intol-
lerable heat: wherein many of the natives are in their travell
suffocated and perish. And of Christians, a Dutchman as hee
was carried in his palamkeene [palanquin], and an Englishman
walking but from the towne to the barre, little above an English
mile, dyed both in the way. The rest of these foure moneths are
very hote, farre exceeding the hottest day in our climate, and
would so continue, but that in July, August, September, and
October, the raines are predominant, which with their frequent,
violent, and long continuing showres, cooles the earth, and
revives the parcht roots of the sunburnt plants of the earth,
sometimes rayning so long together, and with such fiercenesse,
t+hat houses loose their foundations in their currants, and fall to
the ground : from whence also tollowes great land-flouds, to this
countrey no lesse commodious then the inundation of Nilus to
the Egyptians, by receiving the flouds into their rice grounds,
and there retayning it untill the earth, drinking it in, becomes
the better enabled to endure an eighth moneths abstinence; for
in eight moneths it never rayneth. November, December,
January, and February they account their cooler times, and are
so indeed compared to the former, yet as hote as it 1s here in
England in May.?

~ From which constant heate all trees are heere continually
greene, and their fruites ripe in their severall seasons. The earth

1 This account of the climate of Masulipatam is substantially, but not
verbally, accurate, The average rainfall in forty years (1 870-1909)} wes
387 inches, of which 35-4 fell between June and November, and 3-3 in the
remaining six months (Kistna District Gazetteer). 'The mean temperature in
?uvember—Februar}r is about 75°; in March-June, 85°; and in July-October,
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in some places affoords two croppes of rice’ in a yeere, rarely
three croppes, and in most places but one, yet there with very
great increase: they sowe other sorts of pulse, different from
ours, and farre up into the country they have good wheate, but
not much, for it is little eaten of the Gentiles: rootes they have
of most sorts which we have heere, and good store of potatoes,
yet but few hearbs or flowres, which defect they supply in their
betele,* whose frequent use amongst them many have already
discoursed. In briefe, it is a very fruitfull countrey, and,
occasioned by many of the inhabitants abstinence from any
thing that hath life, all kind of victuall are very cheape and
plentifull 3 as eight hens for twelve pence, a goate or sheepe for
ten pence, and for eighteene pence or two shillings a very good
hogge ; the like of fish and all other provisions in the towne, but
in the countrey much better cheape,

This Kingdome (as most others in India) receiveth its
denomination from the chiefe city or residence o